

Transformed Apples: Traits of Significance to Growers and Consumers

Sean M. Bulley^{1*} • Mickaël Malnoy^{2,3} • Ross G. Atkinson¹ • Herb S. Aldwinckle^{2*}

The Horticulture and Food Research Institute of New Zealand, Mt Albert Research Centre, Private Bag 92169, Auckland, New Zealand
 ² Cornell University, Department of Plant Pathology, Geneva, New York 14456, USA
 ³ IASMA Research Centre, Via E. Mach 1, 38010 San Michele all'Adige (TN) Italy

Corresponding author: * sbulley@hortresearch.co.nz, hsa1@cornell.edu

ABSTRACT

The first report of transformed apple plants in 1989 raised expectations for new apple cultivars that would be better tasting, healthier and easier to grow. Although, many different traits have been now been introduced successfully into apple, no transformed cultivars have yet made it to commercial production. Most early reports on transformed apple described 'proof of concept' experiments involving the development of regeneration protocols, and the choice of appropriate promoters and selectable markers. More recently the focus has moved onto functional testing of traits of potential commercial interest. These traits can be grouped into two categories: horticultural production traits and fruit-focussed traits. Production traits of interest include bacterial, fungal and pest resistance, dwarfing, propagation, stress resistance, precocity, storage life and self fertility. Examples of fruit-focussed traits include novel health properties, flavour, reduced browning, colour, and reduced allergenicity. This review will consider reports of characters introduced into apple that are useful to growers and consumers, and looks toward future trends, targets and challenges.

Keywords: allergenicity, dwarfing, flavour, herbicide resistance, pest and disease resistance, precocity, storage life, stress resistance

CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	
HORTICULTURAL PRODUCTION TRAITS INTRODUCED INTO APPLE	268
Bacterial disease resistance	268
Fungal disease resistance	269
Enhancing natural disease resistance mechanisms to pathogenic bacteria and fungi	270
Insect pest resistance	
Dwarfing	270
Propagation	271
Stress resistance	271
Precocity	271
Storage life	271
Herbicide resistance	
Self fertility	
FRUIT-FOCUSSED TRAITS INTRODUCED INTO APPLE	272
Novel health properties	272
Flavour	
Reduced browning potential	273
Colour for novelty and health	273
Reducing allergenicity	
CONSUMER PERCEPTIONS OF TRANSFORMED APPLES	
Limiting the transformed product to a particular tissue	
Limiting the amount of integrated non-plant genetic material	274
Limiting transformed gene expression to rootstocks	275
Affecting single base pair mutations	275
CONCLUSIONS	275
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	275
REFERENCES	275

INTRODUCTION

Apples (*Malus pumila* synonym. *Malus x domestica*; Mabberley *et al.* 2001) comprised 13% (5.2 million Ha; 62 million metric tons) of total world fruit production in 2005 (World Apple Report 2006, Belrose Inc.) and are widely

grown in temperate areas throughout the world. The fruit are borne on generally self incompatible perennial trees with long generation times, which makes retaining multiple desirable characters through conventional breeding very difficult and time consuming (Brown 1992). Therefore there was great excitement and expectation with the first report of genetic transformation by James *et al.* (1989). Suddenly it seemed possible that existing cultivars with completely novel, or with slightly altered characters could be produced within a much shorter timeframe than by conventional breeding.

In the eighteen years since apple transformation was first reported, many common scion and rootstock cultivars have been successfully transformed, yet no transformed cultivars have progressed through to commercial production. With hindsight it was probably optimistic to have expected the latter to occur quickly. Most early reports on transformed apple described 'proof of concept' experiments involving the development of regeneration and transformation protocols, and the choice of appropriate promoters and selectable markers (summarised in Bulley and James 2004; Malnoy and Aldwinckle 2007). More recently, attention has focussed on functional testing of traits of scientific and potential commercial interest. Today, genetic engineering is seen as another powerful tool in the breeder's 'toolbox'. It can be used to introduce variation from genetic resources within and outside of apple and complements the rapid advances (saturated genetic maps, genome sequencing, etc.) being made in marker-assisted breeding.

This review will consider the reports of transformed apples having direct application to producers, consumers, or both. It will also briefly discuss consumer attitudes to genetically engineered (GE) apples and consider the implications of these attitudes to both the traits that might be introduced into apple and appropriate delivery technologies. Transformation protocols are not discussed as they have been covered extensively in other reviews; however a summary of transformation frequencies is presented in **Table 1** to give the reader an idea of the relative difficulty in transformation of various cultivars.

HORTICULTURAL PRODUCTION TRAITS INTRODUCED INTO APPLE

Bacterial disease resistance

Engineering to increase resistance to fire blight is the focus of research in bacterial disease resistance (also reviewed recently in Malnoy and Aldwinckle 2007). Fire blight, caused by the necrotic bacterium *Erwinia amylovora*, is arguably the most devastating disease of apple, with some outbreaks resulting in the destruction of whole orchards. The disease was first reported in the northeast of USA in 1784, and from there it has spread through infected material throughout most global apple growing regions, except China, India, South America and Australia. Fire blight bacteria are capa-

Table 1 Transformation efficiencies of various apple cultivars and rootstocks.

Туре	Cultivars	Efficiency of transformation	Reference
Scions	'Ariane'	2%	Faize et al. 2003, 2004
	'Braeburn'	1.20%	de Bondt et al. 1994, 1996
	Red Delicious'	1-2%	Sriskandarajah et al. 1994, 1998
	'Elstar'	1.20%	de Bondt et al. 1994, 1996
		0.4-0.8%	Schaart et al. 1995; Puite and Schaart 1996
		0.17%	Szankowski et al. 2003
	'Falstaff'	7.50%	Wilson and James 1998
	'Florina'	7.90%	Radchuck and Korkhovoy 2005
	'Fuji'	1.20%	de Bondt et al. 1994, 1996
	-	1.10%	Murata et al. 2001
		1.4-6.5%	Seong et al. 2005
	'Gala'	1.20%	de Bondt et al. 1994, 1996
	'Galaxy'	5-20 %	Malnoy et al. 2007a
	'Royal Gala'	0.7-0.9%	Schaart et al. 1995
	2	0.7-8.7%	Puite and Schaart 1996
		0.4-4.6%	Yao et al. 1995
		1-1.4 %	Faize et al. 2003, 2004
		1.70%	Liu <i>et al.</i> 2001
	'Golden Delicious'	0.2-6%	Schaart et al. 1995
		1.60%	Puite and Schaart 1996
	'Greensleeves'	0.1-0.5%	James <i>et al.</i> 1989
		8-16%	S.M. Bulley <i>et al.</i> unpublished results
	'Holsteiner Cox'	0.5-2.68%	Szankowski <i>et al.</i> 2003
	'Liberty'	0.03-0.4%	Hanke <i>et al.</i> 2000
	'McIntosh'	5-20 %	Norelli <i>et al.</i> 1996
	'Wijcik'	3.50%	Wilson and James 1998
	'Melba'	13.30%	Dolgov <i>et al.</i> 2000
	'Orin'	0.10%	Murata et al. 2000
	01111	0.50%	Kanamaru <i>et al.</i> 2004
		0.25%	Kotoda <i>et al.</i> 2006
	'Pink Lady'	1-2%	Sriskandarajah and Goodwin 1998
	'Pinova'	0.03-0.4%	Hanke <i>et al.</i> 2000
	'Queen Cox'	0.5-2.2%	Wilson and James 2003
	'Remo'	0.03-0.4%	Hanke <i>et al.</i> 2000
	'Reka'	0.03-0.4%	Hanke <i>et al.</i> 2000
Rootstocks	'A2'	0.33%	Zhu <i>et al.</i> 2001a
	'JET-H'	5.60%	Sule <i>et al.</i> 2002
	'Jork 9'	6.50%	Sedira <i>et al.</i> 2001, 2005
	'M.7'	5-20 %	Norelli <i>et al.</i> 1996
	'M.26'	2.5-7.1%	Welander <i>et al.</i> 1998
	111.20	0.9-3.9%	Holefors <i>et a</i> l. 1998, 2000
	'M9/29'	0.9-3.9%	Zhu <i>et al.</i> 2001b
	'N545'	1.5-7.2%	Dolgov <i>et al.</i> 2000, 2004
Malus prunifolia	'Ringo Asami'	2%	Masuda <i>et al.</i> 2004
1 5	e		
Malus robusta Rehd.	'Balenghaitang'	1.20%	Qu <i>et al</i> . 2005

ble of infecting blossom, fruit, vegetative shoots and rootstock crowns through natural openings or wounds. Current disease management strategies rely on a mix of cultural practice and application of copper compounds and antibiotics. The most effective antibiotic is streptomycin. However, streptomycin is not registered for commercial use in many countries and streptomycin-resistant *E. amylovora* strains have arisen where streptomycin was used frequently (Jones and Schnabel 2000). Fire blight resistant rootstocks have been commercially released (e.g. the Geneva[®] series); but conventional breeding of scions is hampered by the very poor quality of resistance sources.

A number of genes have been expressed in apple to improve bacterial resistance, with varying degrees of success. Researchers have followed three different strategies: producing antimicrobial proteins, inhibiting bacterial pathogenicity factors, and silencing DspE-interacting proteins.

Producing antimicrobial proteins. Cecropins act as antimicrobial proteins because they contain amphipathic helices which associate to induce pore formation in bacterial membranes (Hultmark et al. 1982; Boman and Hultmark 1987; Flink et al. 1989; Noorden et al. 1992; Jaynes et al. 1993). The cecropin B analogs SB-37 and Shiva 1 (from the giant silk moth, Hyalophora cecropia) were expressed in 'Royal Gala' and 'M.7' apple rootstock under control of woundinducible and constitutive promoters with mixed success (Aldwinckle et al. 1996; Norelli et al. 1996). One transgenic line (T245) showed significantly increased resistance compared with the control 'Royal Gala' (12% vs. 67% shoot length infected), and several other lines developed less disease than the controls. Enhanced resistance to fire blight in tissue culture tests was achieved by expressing a modified cecropin SB37 gene, fused to a secretory coding sequence from barley α -amylase under the control of a wound-inducible osmotin promoter from tobacco, but no data from whole plants were reported (Liu et al. 2001).

Attacin E (*AttE* gene) is an antimicrobial protein from *H*. cecropia that has been expressed in apple (Hanke et al. 2000; Ko et al. 2000). In the study by Ko et al. (2000), four binary plasmids were transformed separately into 'Galaxy' (a sport of 'Gala'). The authors found a correlation between attacin content and resistance in lines with AttE under control of the Pin2p promoter, and showed that the AMV untranslated leader sequence increased attacin content three times that of the AttE construct without AMV. Most interesting though, was the result of directing secretion into the intercellular space. These lines had the lowest attacin content but highest fire blight resistance. Degradation assays indicated that 60% of the attacin was degraded after 1 hr. This study appears to agree with the proposition that antibacterial proteins localised in the intercellular space should be more effective for bacterial resistance than expression within the plant cell (Alfano and Collmer 1996; Düring 1996; Bogs et al. 1998). Increasing the longevity of the secreted proteins in the intercellular space should presumably increase resistance.

Lysozyme proteins are bacteriolytic enzymes that are only effective against gram-positive bacteria (Boman and Hultmark 1987). Transgenic 'Galaxy' expressing either T4 lysozyme or *AttE* had significant fire blight disease reduction compared with non-transgenic 'Galaxy', but none of the lines expressing both were significantly more resistant than the 'Galaxy' control (Ko *et al.* 2002). Hanke *et al.* (2000) also reported that increased resistance to fire blight was achieved by expression of the phage T4 lysozyme in the fire blight susceptible apple 'Pinova'.

Inhibiting bacterial pathogenicity factors. The capsular exopolysaccharide (EPS) layer is very important to bacterial physiology. The EPS has roles in bacterial pathogenicity (Bellemann and Geider 1992; Bernhard *et al.* 1993) as well as binding and absorbing nutrients, and avoiding host detection (Romeiro *et al.* 1981). The polysaccharide Φ Ea1-depolymerase gene (*Dpo*) from an *E. amylovora* phage (driven by *CaMV35S*) was transferred into nine apple cultivars, resulting in increased (but not complete) resistance to fire blight (Hanke *et al.* 2000; Flachowsky and Hanke 2006). Sule *et al.* (2002) transferred *Dpo* into the apple rootstock 'JTE-H' and reported resistance of transgenic lines to fire blight infection compared with controls. Greater resistance was observed when *Dpo* with a signal peptide for secretion into the intercellular space was transformed into 'M.26' rootstock (Boresjza-Wysocka *et al.* 2006).

Silencing DspE-interacting proteins. Borejsza-Wysocka et al. (2004) silenced endogenous apple genes whose products interact with the *dspE* gene of *E. amylovora*. The *dspE* gene encodes a pathogenicity effecter essential for development of the fire blight. DspE-interacting proteins (DIPM) are conserved in all hosts of *E. amylovora* tested, but not in any non-host plants tested so far (Borejsza-Wysocka et al. 2006). The authors reported that resistance to *E. amylovora* strain Ea273 was increased in certain lines with silenced DIPM genes.

Besides resistance to fire blight, resistance to only one other bacterial disease, crown gall (*Agrobacterium tumefaciens*), has been engineered in apple. Viss *et al.* (2003) produced crown gall resistant transformed 'Jonagold' apple trees by expressing double-stranded RNA from *IaaM* and *Ipt* oncogene sequences from *A. tumefaciens*. These genes are involved in phytohormone production and subsequent gall formation. Increased resistance to *A. tumefaciens* would be most useful for rootstocks, where gall formation is most problematic.

Fungal disease resistance

Work on resistance to fungal disease has focused on apple scab (*Venturia inaequalis*), the most serious fungal disease of apple in growing areas with wet springs. It attacks both the foliage and fruit, resulting in reduced yield, and un-saleable blemished fruit. Scab is mainly controlled by the use of fungicides, although this method of control is threatened by increasing fungicide resistance. Conventional breeding has relied on one major resistance gene (Vf). Race 6 of the V. *inaequalis* that can overcome this resistance occurs in Europe, but apparently not in North America. Researchers have also introduced antifungal proteins from fungal and plant sources with interesting results.

Wong et al. (1998) reported increased scab resistance in 'Royal Gala' over-expressing an endochitinase and chitobiosidase from the bio control fungus Trichoderma atrovirida. Resistance was engineered into the very scab susceptible 'Marshall McIntosh' apple by introducing the same two genes (Bolar et al. 2000, 2001). The levels of chitinase expression were positively correlated with resistance to scab and the endochitinase was more effective than exo-chitinase, although lines with high endo-chitinase gene expression had reduced vigour. Double transformant lines with high exo-chitinase and low endo-chitinase expression were resistant to scab and had negligible effects on growth (Bolar et al. 2001). Similar effects were reported by Faize et al. (2003) in 'Galaxy' and 'Ariane' (carrying Vf) transformed with the same endo- and exo-chitinase genes. Additionally, introduction of the chitinases gave a pyramiding of resistance because transformed 'Ariane' plants gained resistance to scab race 6 (*Vf* in 'Ariane' confers resistance to race 1). Race specific resistance was seen in an experiment where and antifungal cysteine-rich wheat seed protein called puroindoline-b (pinB) was transformed into 'Galaxy' and 'Ariane' resulting in resistance to race 6, but not to race 1 in the case of 'Galaxy' (Faize et al. 2004). The differing modes and differential nature of scab resistance emphasises the need to pyramid multiple sources of resistance to ensure that durable resistance can be achieved.

Extracts from transgenic 'Jonagold' shoots over-expressing an antifungal peptide from radish and an antimicrobial peptide from onion showed 8 to 32 and 4 fold increases, respectively, in fungal growth inhibition activity over controls *in vitro* (de Bondt *et al.* 1998), but nothing has been published regarding their performance in the field.

The introduction of the apple scab resistance gene Vf

from a wild into a cultivated apple began as early as the 1950s (Hough et al. 1953; Schmidt and van de Weg 2005). Despite more than 50 years of traditional breeding, the new apple cultivars carrying this gene have yet to acquire the same fruit quality in terms of taste and texture as elite susceptible cultivars, because of linkage drag. The genes at the Vf locus have recently been cloned (Vinatzer et al. 2001; Xu and Korban 2002). One of these Vf paralogs, HcrVf2, was transformed into the susceptible 'Gala' cultivar and shown to confer scab resistance when driven by the strong constitutive CaMV35S promoter (Belfanti et al. 2004). Recently, Malnoy et al. (unpublished results) undertook a study of the function of each of the three Vfa full-length paralogs at the Vf locus in the resistance response of apple to V. inaequalis by complementation tests. Intact genomic candidate genes of each of the Vfa paralogs under the control of their own promoter were integrated into the genome of the scab-sus-ceptible apple cultivars 'Galaxy' and 'McIntosh'. They found that transformed lines expressing Vfa4 were susceptible to apple scab; whereas, those expressing either Vfa1 or *Vfa2* were partially resistant to apple scab.

Enhancing natural disease resistance mechanisms to pathogenic bacteria and fungi

During the infection process pathogens secrete compounds that elicit a range of plant host defence responses that occur at different speeds. Researchers have tried to induce plant defence responses by introducing elicitors or by speeding up the defence response with various promoters. The harpin N_{EA} gene from *E. amylovora*, is an elicitor (and pathogenicity factor), that induces a hypersensitive response (HR) as well as systemic acquired resistance (SAR) (Wei et al. 1992; Dong et al. 1999). This gene was introduced into the fire blight susceptible 'M.26' rootstock under the control of either the weak constitutive nos or the pathogen-inducible gst1 promoters (Abdul-Kader et al. 1999; Aldwinckle et al. 2003). In the gst1 promoter driven plants, an increase in resistance equivalent to that of the fire blight resistant rootstock 'M.7' was observed over a number of years (Malnoy and Aldwinckle 2007).

Another approach has been to over-express master regulators of the plant disease response. The NPR1 gene is a key mediator of SAR (Cao *et al.* 1994, 1997, 1998). An additional copy of the apple orthologue, MpNPR1, was introduced into 'Galaxy' and the rootstock 'M.26' (Malnoy *et al.* 2006). In test chamber challenges with *E. amylovora*, the transformed 'Galaxy' clones had 17.5 to 35.5% shoot length infected compared with 80% in controls. In addition, there was increased resistance to two other pathogens [V. inaequalis and Gymnosporangium juniperi-virginianae (cedar apple rust)] (Malnoy *et al.* 2004, 2006). The increased, broad spectrum resistance produced by the introduction of an additional copy of a gene sourced within apple, makes the use of MpNPR1 (and similar strategies) very attractive, as all the other genes for resistance employed previously have been of viral, bacterial, fungal or animal origin.

Insect pest resistance

Apple plants have been transformed with lepidopteran-specific insecticidal crystal proteins (ICPs) from *Bacillus thuringiensis* (Dandekar *et al.* 1992, 2002). Initially, this approach was unsuccessful because of a lack of expression caused by codon usage, cryptic splice sites, and motifs causing mRNA instability (Escobar and Dandekar 2000; Dandekar *et al.* 2002), but this was rectified by using ICPs with a re-synthesised gene sequence (Perlak *et al.* 1991). Under licence from Monsanto, Dry Creek Laboratories developed transgenic apple trees expressing synthetic ICP genes. High mortality rates of codling moths were observed on these trees (Dandekar *et al.* 1992; Clark *et al.* 2004). Interestingly, these trees were used as trap plants in walnut orchards with great effect and in a 4-year trial "worm damage to the walnuts was almost completely controlled without pesticide applications, equivalent to that in the plots sprayed three times per season with pesticides" (Clark *et al.* 2004).

The use of the biotin-binding proteins avidin and strepavidin gave resistance to the economically significant pest lightbrown apple moth (LBAM), *Epiphyas postvittana* (Markwick *et al.* 2003). Expression of the transgene protein was directed to the vacuole using potato proteinase inhibitor targeting sequences (Murray *et al.* 2002). Targeting to the vacuole was crucial because production of biotin is essential for plant growth (Hood *et al.* 1997). The use of biotinbinding proteins is likely to confer resistance to a wide variety of insects (Morgan *et al.* 1993; Markwick *et al.* 2001; Burgess *et al.* 2002), including some not targeted by ICPs from *B. thuriengensis.* Therefore, the deployment of both types of genes would not only confer broad insect resistance but would also give a better chance of durable resistance.

Dwarfing

The ability to control plant vigour made modern high intensity apple production systems possible. In general, sufficient vigour control of dessert apple cultivars is imparted by the use of rootstocks. Bittersweet apple cultivars, on the other hand, tend to be very vigorous and require the application of chemical growth retardants such as paclobutra-zol (Cultar[™], Syngenta) or Apogee[®], in addition to grafting onto rootstocks. Both these growth retardants are known to be inhibitors of gibberellin (GA) biosynthesis. With this in mind, dwarf (reduced internode length) 'Greensleeves' scions were produced by silencing an endogenous GA 20-oxidase (Fig. 1, Bulley et al. 2005). The size of the trans-formed trees ranged between 50 and 80% of non-transformed controls and more pertinently, the dwarfing effect was retained in the T_0 plants after grafting onto normally invigorating rootstocks (M.25 and MM.106). Transformed lines typically produced normal sized fruit over several seasons (S.M. Bulley et al., unpublished results).

Earlier work also reported dwarf apple trees. Holefors et al. (2000) transformed 'M.26' rootstock with the light dependent photoreceptor phytochrome B gene (PhyB) from Arabidopsis (Sharrock and Quail 1989). PhyB regulates developmental light responses and over-expression of PhyB in Arabidopsis and tobacco resulted in dwarf plants (Wagner et al. 1991; Halliday et al. 1997). Transformed apple plants over-expressing *PhyB* had reduced stem lengths down to $^{2}/_{3}$ that of control (for the most dwarfed), due to slightly reduced internode length and presumably internode number (internode number data not given) (Holefors et al. 2000). This result is more like the dwarfing effect imparted by rootstocks, where internode number is reduced but internode length is not, and there is an increased probability of the bud becoming floral (Seleznyova et al. 2003). No further data have been published regarding the ability of the *PhyB* dwarfed rootstock to impart a dwarfing effect to the scion.

The *rol* genes from *A. rhizogenes* have been used to dwarf two cultivars of rootstock. The *rol*A gene was transformed into the vigorous 'A2' rootstock (Zhu *et al.* 2001a) and the semi-vigorous 'M.26' rootstock, resulting in slower relative growth rates and shortened internode lengths (Holefors *et al.* 1998; Zhu and Welander 2000). The *rol*C gene was transferred into the 'Marubakaidou' rootstock and the resulting dwarf trees fell into two groups. The first group had reduced height with normal internode lengths, while the second group displayed both reduced height and shortened internodes (Igarashi *et al.* 2002). Again, no further data have been published regarding any ability of the *rol*C dwarfed rootstock to impart the same dwarfing effect to the scion.

Introduction of the *rol*B gene can also lead to dwarfing in some cases. However, this gene has been used mainly to increase rooting ability, as discussed below.



Fig. 1 (A) Dwarfed transgenic line (left) compared with a non-transgenic control of same age (right). Plants were dwarfed using a sense-suppression strategy with a partial sequence (316 bp) of an apple gibberellin 20-oxidase gene (Bulley *et al.* 2005). The dwarfing effect is a result of reduced internode length, as the number of internodes remained unchanged. (**B**) GA₃ application can rescue the phenotype. All the plants are the same dwarf line as in 'A' and of the same age. The eight plants on the right had GA₃ applied at weekly intervals (approx. 200 mg.L⁻¹), while the four on the left were sprayed with water only (Bulley *et al.* 2005).

Propagation

Some apple cultivars are difficult to propagate from cuttings. The *rol*B gene from *A. rhizogenes* has been transferred into cv. 'Florina' (Radchuck and Korkhovoy 2005), and the root-stocks 'M.26' (Welander *et al.* 1998; Zhu and Welander 2000), 'M.9'/'M29' (Zhu *et al.* 2001b) and 'Jork 9' (Paw-licki-Jullian *et al.* 2002). Expression of *rol*B conferred increased adventitious root formation on hormone-free medium (80-100% explants rooting compared with 0-50% for controls). In some cases, reduced apical dominance with slow initial growth and shorter and fewer internodes were seen (Zhu and Welander 2000; Zhu *et al.* 2001b; Pawlicki-Jullian *et al.* 2002), although the degree of dwarfing was not as strong compared with *rol*A transformants (Zhu and Welander 2000). No difference in shoot length was seen in *rol*B transformed 'Florina' (Radchuck and Korkhovoy 2005).

Stress resistance

Apple trees with greater resistance to abiotic stresses would allow more sustainable methods of production as well as productive use of more marginal lands. To date, only two traits have been modified using genetic engineering. Increased tolerance to heat and cold stress and UV-B was achieved by over-expressing a cytosolic ascorbate peroxidase from pea in 'Royal Gala'. The greatest improvement in tolerance was in response to long-term exposure to sublethal heat stress, with lethal temperature 50 values (LT₅₀) increased to between 52 to 58°C in transformed plants compared with 51°C in controls (Wisniewski *et al.* 2007).

Transformed *Malus robusta* Rehd rootstock over-expressing a single copy of the tomato iron transporter gene (*LeIRT2*) showed increased tolerance to iron-deficient growing conditions in hydroponic culture, with the transformed plants having approximately 21% more fresh weight than controls (Qu *et al.* 2005).

Precocity

An attractive feature of many clonal rootstocks is that they reduce the length of juvenility and promote heavier flowering of grafted scions when compared with scion cultivars grown on their own roots or on seedling rootstocks. Kotoda and colleagues (Kotoda and Wada 2005; Kotoda et al. 2006) reported that transformed 'Orin' apple plants expressing the MdTFL1 gene in antisense orientation (MdTFL is an endogenous transcription factor that delays flowering), flowered 8-22 months after transfer to the greenhouse, whereas non-transgenic plants flowered 69 months after transfer to the greenhouse. However, the magnitude of the early flowering effect is unclear, since first flowering was obtained ~22 months after transformation in AttE-transgenic 'Gala' plants grafted on 'M.9' rootstock and grown for six months in a screenhouse, given a 3-month cold treatment and then planted in the field (H.S. Aldwinckle and J.L. Norelli, unpublished results). The *AttE* gene is not known to affect the onset of first flowering. An interesting effect of this modification was that the architecture of the trees changed because buds that were normally vegetative were instead now floral, leading to a less vigorous tree with shorter branches compared with controls. Might this explain, at least in part, how dwarfing rootstocks exert their effect?

Flachowsky *et al.* (2007a, 2007b) reported that expression of the *BpMADS4* gene from silver birch (*Betula pen-dula* Roth.) in 'Pinova' apple caused flower buds to develop on *in vitro*-cultured transgenic plants 13 weeks after transformation, and morphologically normal flowers were produced. Flowers were also produced on own-rooted plants of three *BpMADS4*-transgenic lines after 3-4 months growth in a greenhouse. These flowers produced viable pollen, and when pollinated set fruit with 8-10 seeds per fruit. This research is promising for producing early flowering model apple lines for the study of genomics of flowering regulation and fruit quality characters.

Storage life

Good storage potential is an important quality of any modern dessert apple cultivar. Whilst controlled atmosphere storage technology and chemicals such as 1-methylcyclopropene (MCP) can mitigate poor storage in some cultivars, these technologies have drawbacks in terms of energy use (refrigeration and atmosphere control), expense, and chemical application is subject to regulatory control. Transformed 'Gala', 'McIntosh' and 'Greensleeves' down-regulated for either ACS (ACC synthase; 1-aminocyclopropane-1-carboxylic acid synthase) or ACO (ACC oxidase) have been produced (Hrazdina *et al.* 2000; Dandekar *et al.* 2004; Schaffer *et al.* 2007). These genes encode key enzymes in biosynthesis of ethylene (Yang and Hoffman 1984; Gray *et al.* 1992), which is a key hormone initiating and mediating ripening in climacteric fruit.

Both Dandekar *et al.* (2004) and Defilippi *et al.* (2004) analysed fruit from the same or similar transformed antisense ACO and ACS apple lines, which ranged in ethylene production rate (nL C_2H_4 kg⁻¹.h⁻¹) from 4 to 40% that of the 'Greensleeves' control ('Greensleeves' has 'James Grieve' x 'Golden Delicious' parentage). They both observed greatly increased shelf life and increased firmness: 75-83 N compared with 50 N for controls after 12 days at 20°C. The fruit also retained more of its green colour under the same conditions (101-107 hue angle vs 97 for control; *p*<0.001). Dandekar *et al.* (2004) reported no significant difference in soluble solids (°Brix) and acidity at harvest and after storage, whereas sugar and acid composition was different from controls in fruit stored without ethylene-treated fruit (Defillipi *et al.* 2004). Production of volatile esters such as



Fig. 2 Ripening put on hold by disrupting ethylene biosynthesis: increased storage life without controlled atmosphere storage could allow large energy savings. Fruit from untransformed 'Royal Gala' (left) and ACC oxidase antisense line AO3 (right), after storage at 22 °C for 85 days (Schaffer *et al.* 2007). Image ©2007 American Society of Plant Biologists. A similar effect was reported in 'Greensleeves' apples silenced for either ACC synthase or ACC oxidase (Dandekar *et al.* 2004).

butyl 2-methylbutanoate, hexyl acetate, hexyl propanoate, and hexyl butanoate, as well as α-farnesene was suppressed (total ester production was down to 29% of control and αfarnesene was down to 40% of control). Alpha-farnesene is a major component of the 'green apple' smell and its production is regulated by ethylene (Dandekar *et al.* 2004; Pechous and Whitaker 2004). The volatile esters are important components of the fruit flavour complex, but a similar level of suppression of volatile ester production was observed when control fruit was treated with 1 µL.L⁻¹ 1-MCP for 20 h at 20°C (Defilippi *et al.* 2005). Ethylene treatment allowed ester and alcohol synthesis to recover to 70% of the control fruit values, whereas ester and alcohol synthesis only slightly recovered in MCP-treated fruit (Defilippi *et al.* 2005).

In a separate study, Schaffer et al. (2007) found that in ACC oxidase down-regulated 'Royal Gala', ester and alcohol synthesis completely recovered after ethylene treatment. Their microarray data revealed that ethylene controlled only the last biosynthetic steps of aroma biosynthesis. Genotypic factors such as ethylene sensitivity might explain the difference in recovery of ester and alcohol synthesis. Being able to apply ethylene to control ripening offers a situation similar to that already being used for banana, and increased storage life without refrigeration could allow large energy savings (Fig. 2). These studies have provided valuable insights into the complexities of fruit ripening and flavour development. However, as ethylene is an important phytohormone that is also involved in mediating plant response to stress (flooding, drought, chilling, wounding, and pathogen attack), flower opening and abscission, more work is needed for commercial applications to be realised.

In another experiment to affect storage life, the apple polygalacturonase gene, *MdPG*, was expressed in sense orientation to co-suppress expression of the endogenous MdPG protein (Atkinson *et al.* 2002). A range of phenotypes were observed in the over-expressing 'Royal Gala' lines related to pectin changes in the leaf cell walls. However, although mature enough, none of the *MdPG* transformants developed flowers and, as a consequence, did not set any fruit. Therefore the effect of *MdPG* on fruit storage was not determined.

Herbicide resistance

A BASTA[®] (phosphinothricin) herbicide-resistant N545 apple rootstock has been produced by introducing the *bar* gene (phosphinothricin acetyl transferase). Plants transformed with the *bar* gene were resistant to a 1% solution of BASTA[®] (Dolgov and Skryabin 2004). Herbicide-resistant scions and rootstocks would facilitate the use of herbicides in nurseries and young orchards.

Self fertility

The majority of apples cultivars and many other tree crops are self-incompatible due to a system which specifically prevents self-pollen from fertilising self egg cells. In apple, a key gene in the self incompatibility system resides at the S-locus which encodes S-RNAses (Broothaerts et al. 1995). One allele isolated from 'Elstar' (S3; Broothaerts et al. 1995) was over-expressed under the control of the CaMV35S promoter in 'Elstar' to silence the endogenous allele. Self-compatible transformed lines were obtained that were silenced for the S3 allele but also the S5 allele – presumably due to sequence similarity or methylation of the S5 allele (Broothaerts *et al.* 2004). Over a three year trial the S3/5 silenced lines were equally fertile with self (32% set) and non-self pollen (31% set), and to controls pollinated with non-self pollen (30%). Fertility of self-pollinated controls was very low (4%) (Broothaerts et al. 2004). Self-fertile apples would be attractive to growers, particularly if pollination by bees was not required. The recent outbreak of varroa mite (Varroa destructor) in New Zealand highlights this issue. With the decimation of wild bee populations, orchardists must now bear additional costs for managed bee hives to be brought into orchards for pollination. Self-fertile apple cultivars could also be useful to apple breeders and researchers for producing homozygous breeding lines.

FRUIT-FOCUSSED TRAITS INTRODUCED INTO APPLE

Novel health properties

'Elstar' and 'Holsteiner Cox' were transformed with a grape stilbene synthase gene under the control of its own promoter with the aim of increasing scab resistance (Szankowski et al. 2003; Rühmann et al. 2006). The resulting transgenic lines contained piceid (a glycoside of resveratrol). Resveratrol and its glycosides (storage form) occur naturally in grapes and wine and have a wide range of purported beneficial properties. These include being anti-inflammatory, estrogenic, antiplatelet, and anticarcinogenic (Bertelli et al. 1995; Gehm et al. 1997; Jang et al. 1997; Subbaramaiah et al. 1998; Manna et al. 2000), and in laboratory studies these compounds increased the life spans of yeast, Caenorhabditis elegans, Drosophila melanogaster, fish, and mice fed a calorie-rich diet (Howitz et al. 2003; Wood et al. 2004; Baur et al. 2006; Valenzano et al. 2006). However, it is unknown whether similar benefits will also be seen in humans, and the action of resveratrol as a phytoestrogen may also have deleterious effects in certain individuals (Gehm et al. 1997). No further information has been published regarding the degree of scab resistance conferred by expressing a stilbene synthase, but it is promising that apples containing increased levels of antioxidant compounds beneficial to human health might also promote resistance to fungal pathogens such as V. inaequalis (scab).

Flavour

The gene for the super-sweet tasting thaumatin II protein (from *Thaumatococcus danielli*) was transformed into the 'Melba' scion cultivar to increase sweetness and phytopathogen resistance (Dolgov *et al.* 2004). In an organoleptic test, the leaves of transgenic lines were reported to be modified in their taste. There was no mention of testing for changes to phytopathogen resistance or for changes to the taste of fruit. Introducing pathogenesis-related (PR) genes such as thaumatin to engineer flavour or phytopathogen resistance needs to be treated with care as many PR proteins are potentially allergenic (Hoffmann-Sommergruber 2000).

Alteration of sorbitol biosynthesis can impact on sugar partitioning in fruit. Sorbitol is the principal sugar translocated from source to sink organs in apple (Webb and Burley 1962). Transformation of 'Orin' with a sense sorbitol-6phosphate dehydrogenase gene (S6PDH) under the control of the CaMV35S promoter resulted in lines either silenced or up-regulated in S6PDH activity (Kanamaru *et al.* 2004). Plants that were silenced for S6PDH had reduced levels of sorbitol (to almost zero in some lines) and increased steadystate concentrations of sucrose compared with controls. In lines with increased S6PDH activity, both sorbitol *and* sucrose were increased compared with controls (Kanamaru *et al.* 2004). Conversion of triose-3-phosphate of the translocated photosynthate, in this case sorbitol, to 3-phosphoglyceric acid, results in NADPH production, which in turn reduces mannose-6-phosphate via mannose-6-phosphate reductase, was proposed to drive an apparent increase in photosynthetic rate (Stoop and Pharr 1996; Kanamaru *et al.* 2004). It will be interesting to see what effects there are on fruit constituents in the lines with increased S6PDH activity.

In a similar experiment, transformed 'Greensleeves' down-regulated for S6PDH showed marked changes in overall sugar metabolism (Cheng et al. 2005; Teo et al. 2006). The concentration of sorbitol was reduced in mature leaves while the concentration of sucrose and starch was increased. Although partitioning of newly fixed carbon to sucrose was unchanged, partitioning was increased for starch in S6PDH down-regulated lines. The increase in sucrose concentration was suggested to be due to breakdown of starch to glucose and maltose in chloroplasts for synthesis of sucrose during the night (Cheng et al. 2005). Fruit of S6PDH down-regulated lines had reduced sorbitol and increased sucrose concentrations. The fruit also had altered patterns of glucose, fructose, starch, and malic acid accumulation. Net carbon assimilation was also decreased in S6PDH down-regulated lines. Zhou et al. (2006) reported that these plants had reduced sorbitol dehydrogenase and increased sucrose synthase activities.

These studies have shown that altering expression of a key enzyme in sugar metabolism can have wide-ranging effects on fruit flavour such as the sugar acid balance. It would be of interest to determine how these changes affect sensory perception.

Reduced browning potential

Freshly cut apple fruit are particularly prone to browning of the flesh. Browning is caused by enzymatic oxidation of *o*diphenols to their corresponding quinones, which then polymerise to form brown pigments (Mayer and Harel 1979). The chief catalysts are polyphenol oxidases (PPO). Transformed 'Fuji' and 'Orin' shoots and callus down-regulated for *PPO7* (Haruta *et al.* 1998) showed significantly reduced browning potential (Murata *et al.* 2000, 2001).

Various commercial apple cultivars have been transformed with a chimeric *PPO* with the aim of producing a non-browning phenotype. The chimeric gene was composed of sequence elements from four divergent apple PPO genes under the control of a constitutive promoter. This co-ordinated down regulation of the entire apple *PPO* gene family resulted in reduced levels of total PPO enzyme activity in the leaf and fruit of transformed lines (>90%) and non-browning phenotypes were achieved in multiple lines of several apple cultivars (Okanagan Specialty Fruits [OSF], unpublished results). Multiple years of field testing of this material confirm the stability of the non-browning phenotype and have identified no negative impacts on horticultural traits, or on resistance to diseases and insects when grown under field conditions. The non-browning technology developed at OSF has been incorporated into a new enabling platform that: (i) eliminates the selectable marker, (ii) uses only plant-derived gene sequences and control elements, and (iii) improves the efficiency of gene silencing. Plants arising from this series of transformations are now entering field trials and may be the first transformed apples to reach market. Such fruit would be attractive to both the consumer and the food processing industry.

Colour for novelty and health

Apple skin and flesh colour patterns attract the attention of consumers and serve to differentiate cultivars. The pigments involved in fruit colouration have also been reported to provide protection from cardiac disease (decrease lipid peroxidation and cholesterol level) and inhibit cancer cell proliferation (Boyer and Liu 2004; Schijlen et al. 2004). The distinctive skin and flesh colour of each cultivar is made up of combinations of coloured flavonoids and carotenoids, although there is much less diversity in flesh colour compared with skin colour. Recent work by Espley et al. (2007) has revealed a Myb transcription factor named MdMYB10 that is likely to be the controlling factor for anthocyanin production in apple. When MdMYB10 was over-expressed in 'Royal Gala' under the control of the CaMV35S promoter, the resulting callus and transformed plants were a deep red colour (Espley et al. 2007). Changes to fruit skin and flesh were not reported, but pigmentation would be expected to be similar to the cultivar 'Red Field' (Fig. 3) from which MdMYB10 was isolated. Messenger RNA transcripts for MdMYB10 and the associated anthocyanin biosynthetic genes that it regulates are much more abundant in skin and cortex tissue in 'Red Field' than in the white-fleshed and partially red-skinned 'Pacific Rose[™]' (Espley *et al.* 2007). This work demonstrates the potential for manipulation of skin colour and patterning in apple. Transcription factors controlling the formation of other colour pigments such as carotenoids have been investigated in other species (Davuluri et al. 2005) and have potential in apple to increase health properties and visual attractiveness.



Fig. 3 An apple of the future? Visually attractive, distinctive branding and improved health qualities all rolled into one. While this 'Red Field' apple is *not* GE, but Espley *et al.* (2006) have identified the cause of the red flesh colouration as being due to increased expression of a Myb transcription factor named MdMyb10. 'Royal Gala' plants engineered to over-express MdMyb10 have dark red leaves and have just flowered for the first time (A.C. Allan *et al.*, unpublished results).

Reducing allergenicity

The prevalence of allergies to foods is lower than that of airborne pollen. Roughly 8% of children, particularly in the first 3 years of life, exhibit an allergic reaction to certain foods, but this drops to around 2% in adults. The prevalence of allergy to apple is uncertain, but it varies by geographic region. In Northern Europe, most apple allergic patients (>90%) present oral allergy symptoms resulting from cross reaction of IgE to the birch pollen allergen Betv1 (Fernandez-Rivas *et al.* 2006). The protein in apple that they react to is Mald1 which is an orthologue of Betv1 (Ebner *et al.* 1995; Vanek-Krebitz *et al.* 1995). The allergic symptoms are typically far less severe than peanut allergy because the Mald1 proteins are labile and therefore broken down by the oral mucosa (Astwood *et al.* 1996). In Spain, apple allergic patients are predominantly sensitised to Mald3 (non-speci-

fic lipid transfer protein), which is less easily degraded than Mald1, and so patients can develop much more severe allergic reactions (Fernandez-Rivas *et al.* 2006).

The Mald1b gene has been silenced in 'Elstar' and the silenced lines showed a greater than 10-fold reduction of Mal d 1 protein in leaf. Skin prick tests on allergic patients showed significantly reduced allergenicity, compared with the non-transformed control (Gilissen *et al.* 2005). Immunoblotting of protein extracts from Mald1-silenced lines with a mixture of allergic patient IgE showed little or no reaction to Mald1 in the silenced lines but did show reactivity to other bands (in the regions of ~20-26 KDa, ~39-43 KDa and ~50-58 KDa) (Gilissen *et al.* 2005). Mald1 is encoded by a large multi-gene family of at least 18 members in apple (Atkinson *et al.* 1996; Beuning *et al.* 2004; Gao *et al.* 2005), and it is unknown at this stage which members are allergenic and if all were down-regulated in the silenced lines.

Assessment of the commercial feasibility of producing 'hypoallergenic' apples needs to include the potential market of between 2-10% of the population (although many consumers might choose hypoallergenic products even if they were not required). Allergic people typically avoid the foods they are allergic to and will require persuasion and assurance that a hypoallergenic fruit is safe. Allergic patients can also react to multiple proteins and so multiple genes would need to be silenced. The function of many of these genes is unknown and not all of the allergens present in apple have been characterised or identified. Nevertheless, there is the possibility that low allergenic cultivars may be given preference by food producers and processors because of food health and safety regulations and thus set the benchmark for future cultivars.

CONSUMER PERCEPTIONS OF TRANSFORMED APPLES

Gaining consumer acceptance is vital for the success of GE apples and realisation of the benefits that they potentially offer. Thus development of GE apples will be driven by the market rather than by science (Gamble 1999). Securing a market for any GE food product (including apples) will require consumer perceptions to be addressed, which will be difficult in some markets, given the negative publicity surrounding the technology that has built up over the last ten or so years.

It is also well known that people's intentions can be quite different from their actions. In one topic-blind study from the UK, 93% of participants willingly tasted an apple they believed to be GE and 48% said they would buy GE food when it became available (Townsend and Campbell 2004). The majority (85%) of the 49% of consumers who said they would not purchase GE food in the future willingly tasted and ate an apple they believed to be GE. Therefore, the proportion of consumers who reject genetic engineering outright might be smaller than previously reported and the negative perceptions of the GE food (fruit in this case) may not be as strong as was thought. GE apples that address the fears and wants of consumers may have a better chance of acceptance. In an experimental auction setting with New Zealand consumers, a majority (68-70%, depending on type of GE apple) were willing to pay for the two types of GE apples offered, with only 15% stating specific concern about the use of genetic modification as a reason for not bidding (Kassardjian et al. 2005)

What may lessen the perception of risk of genetic engineeering and thus make consumers more comfortable and accepting of a specific product?

1. Provide some specific benefit to the consumer (Blaine *et al.* 2002; Brown and Ping 2003; Mucci *et al.* 2004; Miles *et al.* 2006). Benefits combining societal relevance and personal tangible benefits (e.g. can be consumed by diabetics combined with low calories for example) do best in compensating for risks and negative associations (Grunert *et al.* 2001). In addition, the benefit should be unique and not provided by other food products (Brown and Ping 2003).

2. Increase convenience. The level of convenience had a strong effect on consumer disposition to biotechnology (Lockie *et al.* 2005).

3. Only transfer genes within kingdom. Transfers of a gene(s) within a kingdom (e.g. one plant species to another plant species) are more acceptable than transferring between kingdoms (an animal derived gene introduced into plants) (Burton *et al.* 2001; Lusk and Sullivan 2002; Nielsen 2003). Presumably, only altering the expression of apple genes would be even more acceptable.

4. Distance dimension has importance (Grunert *et al.* 2001), some examples are given below:

• GE component not present in the final product: product is derived from transformed fruit but does not contain DNA or introduced protein (e.g. oil or chemical extracts).

• GE component present in the final product: introduced DNA is present but introduced protein is only found in vegetative tissues but not in fruit. How this could be achieved is discussed in the following sections.

• GE component present and 'living' in the final product: definition was originally used to describe an example of live GE bacteria present in a yoghurt but in this case it can be thought of as both the introduced DNA and protein is present in the fruit.

How can GE apple lines be produced to make them more acceptable to consumers?

Limiting the transformed product to a particular tissue

It is important for any transformed product to have the correct spatial and temporal expression pattern for proper function and avoid any deleterious effects on plant properties/ growth/health. This can be achieved by including signal tags to direct secretion to particular cellular compartments/ spaces and using appropriate promoters to drive expression. Altering codon usage, expressing micro RNAs, and changing mRNA secondary structures (including the use of intron sequences) can increase transcript longevity or alter the rate of translation.

By limiting the transformed product to a particular tissue (e.g. a disease resistance gene to leaves), negative perception of GE apple fruit may be lessened when presented to a consumer, especially if the promoter sequence driving transgene expression is also derived from apple (or other another plant). This fits with the distance dimension concept discussed previously. It should be recognized that many promoters are leaky, and absence of the 'transprotein' in the fruit would have to be thoroughly assayed in each cultivar under various growing conditions.

Unfortunately, only a few plant-derived promoters have been characterised for their expression patterns in apple (Gittins *et al.* 2000, 2001; Malnoy *et al.* 2006). However, the ability to isolate apple promoters and genes will soon become much easier with the public release of apple genome sequence (R. Velasco *et al.*, unpublished results). It is already possible to select an apple orthologue of a gene of interest by mining publicly available apple expressed sequence tags (EST) (Newcomb *et al.* 2006).

Limiting the amount of integrated non-plant genetic material

The amount of integrated non-plant genetic material can be limited by producing transgenic plants without selectable marker genes (Malnoy *et al.* 2007a) and by using plant border sequences (P-DNA) that replace bacterial T-DNA sequences (Rommens *et al.* 2004). For research purposes, genes conferring antibiotic or herbicide resistance are typically included in the T-DNA (transfer DNA) transferred via *Agrobacterium* transformation to allow selection of transformed plants. However, for release of a GE cultivar, antibiotic resistance marker-free plants may be required. Interestingly, transformation without a selectable marker gave 12% frequency of transformation of 'Galaxy' and up to 25% for 'M.26' (Malnoy *et al.* 2007a). Thus some of the more complicated post-transformation selectable marker excision strategies (e.g. using inducible recombinases) may now be superfluous for producing transformed lines. However, identifying chimeras and vector backbone-free transformants will still be required.

In more difficult to transform cultivars where selection is still required, protocols utilising non-antibiotic based selection may be preferred. Two types of positive/non-antibiotic selection have been reported in literature on apple. The first used the *phosphomannose isomerase* gene with selection on media supplemented with mannose (Flachowsky *et al.* 2004; Zhu *et al.* 2004; Degenhardt *et al.* 2006). The second used the *Vr-ERE* selectable marker gene to detoxify benzaldehyde, which inhibits adventitious bud formation (Chevreau *et al.* 2007), although the authors reported that this selection system requires more development. Herbicide selection (discussed earlier) is another option.

Limiting transformed gene expression to rootstocks

On of the most promising strategies for apple may be limiting transformed expression to the rootstock, meaning that the scion and hence fruit are not GE. Orchard practice does not allow the rootstock to grow leaves, shoots and flowers, thus the potential for transgene spread is significantly reduced. Mechanisms of long distance RNA/protein/metabolite transport could allow 'remote control' of gene expression in the non-transformed scion (reviewed by Lough and Lucas 2006). Utilising this long distance transport system would be beneficial, because a suite of generic rootstocks could be produced that serve particular applications and environments. It would also reduce negative consumer perceptions about directly eating a GE product, and concerns about transgene spread. As noted above, for use of tissue specific promoters, the absence of the transprotein in the fruit of trees on transformed rootstocks would have to be thoroughly assayed in each cultivar/rootstock combination under various growing conditions.

Affecting single base pair mutations

It is possible to affect single base pair changes using chimerical RNA/DNA oligonucleotide-directed gene targeting (chimeric oligonucleotides). Success has been reported for maize, tobacco and rice (Beetham *et al.* 1999; Zhu *et al.* 1999, 2000; Kochevenko and Willmitzer 2003; Okuzaki and Toriyama 2004; Iida and Terada 2005); however, the use of this technique has not been reported in apple. This technique has potential for breeding by introducing a premature stop codon, or modulating gene expression by introducing a rare codon or changing mRNA secondary structure. Furthermore, it is reasonable to say that the resultant plants are non-transgenic, because such polymorphisms can occur without human intervention.

CONCLUSIONS

A great deal of progress has been made by researchers trying to confront important horticultural problems using genetic transformation. Unfortunately data on fruit quality and sensory attributes has been published for only a few of the GE apples discussed here. This is understandable because it takes time for the apple trees to reach maturity and so more data should eventuate as the lines start producing fruit. These studies will be vital in determining whether or not to release a novel cultivar.

Nevertheless, it is now feasible to engineer resistance to some of the most important bacterial and fungal diseases of apple and furthermore, important insect pests can also be controlled without the need to use environmentally unfriendly pesticides. Promising developments have been made in controlling excess vigour, self fertility, storage life and increasing precocity. These advances translate into a reduction in chemical use, greater productivity and a smaller environmental footprint.

On the consumer side, there has been less progress, although advances in colour, reduced browning and novel health properties (including reduced allergenicity) offer interesting and desirable traits to the consumer. A non-browning apple may be the first GE apple to market. Analysis of consumer perception tells us that combining a tangible personal benefit with a trait conferring societal benefit (such as reducing pesticide use) has a better chance of acceptance (Grunert *et al.* 2001). It is time to put more emphasis on developing a GE product that will be acceptable and provide direct benefits to the consumer. As GE products with such consumer benefits become more widely available and accepted, there may be more room to release products which address production issues.

Aside from consumer perceptions, there are other challenges to the development and use of transgenic apples. The global apple market is extremely competitive and generally oversupplied. As a consequence, margins for producers are typically low. When the costs of research, development and regulatory approval are included, the cost of bringing a GE apple cultivar to market is high. This limits the number of applications (Alston 2004). Licensing all the intellectual property (IP) required to obtain freedom-to-operate is also a major barrier, as no institution has all the IP required for commercialisation of a transformed cultivar (Delmer 2004). To those that do have freedom to operate, the economic benefits of producing a GE apple are reduced by the crops small market size, diversity of cultivars and the small acreages grown (Graff *et al.* 2004).

Any GE apple crop will almost certainly require deployment of multiple genes. For cost effectiveness, the development of a GE cultivar may require the free exchange of materials and IP between researchers and companies. Examples of such sharing already exist, e.g. the 'Open Source' movement that exists in the computer software industry and PIPRA (www.pipra.org/) which develops and distributes subsistence crops for humanitarian purposes in the developing world and specialty crops in the developed world. Such initiatives bridge freedom-to-operate barriers to and may also help improve consumer perceptions of biotechnology (i.e. often seen as being the domain of big business).

In summary, the potential benefits of GE apples include apples grown with fewer inputs and that are more environmentally friendly, apples with additional health benefits and nutritive quality, and apples with novel flavours and characters for the consumer to enjoy. However, before these benefits can be achieved, public perceptions must change. We have discussed some of the changes that we as researchers can address, but it may also require development of new technologies and attitudes to exchange of information before these benefits can be realised.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The work of Sean Bulley and Ross Atkinson was funded by the Foundation for Research, Science and Technology, New Zealand. The work of Mickael Malnoy and Herb Aldwinckle was supported by New York apple growers through a grant from the New York Apple Research and Development Program, and by a special grant from USDA-CSREES. The authors would also like to thank Martin Heffer, Andrew Allan and Robert Schaffer for supplying images.

REFERENCES

Abdul-Kader AM, Bauer DW, Beer SV, Norelli JL, Aldwinckle HS (1999) Evaluation of the hrpN gene for increasing resistance to fire blight in transgenic apple. *Acta Horticulturae* **489**, 247-250

Aldwinckle HS, Norelli JL, Mills JZ, Brown SK (1996) Transformation of Gala apple with lytic protein genes. *Acta Horticulturae* **411**, 411

Aldwinckle HS, Borejsza-Wysocka EE, Malnoy M, Brown SK, Norelli JL,

Beer SV, Meng X, He SY, Jin Q-L (2003) Development of fire blight resistant apple cultivars by genetic engineering. *Acta Horticulturae* 622, 105-111
 Alfano JR, Collmer A (1996) Bacterial pathogens in plants: life up against the wall. *Plant Cell* 8, 1683-1698

- Alston JM (2004) Horticultural biotechnology faces significant economic and market barriers. *California Agriculture* 58, 80-88
- Astwood JD, Leach JN, Fuchs RL (1996) Stability of food allergens to digestion in vitro. Nature Biotechnology 14, 1269-1273
- Atkinson RG, Perry J, Matsui T, Ross GS, MacRae EA (1996) A stress-, pathogenesis-, and allergen-related cDNA in apple fruit is also ripeningrelated. *New Zealand Journal of Crop and Horticultural Science* **24**, 103-107
- Atkinson RG, Schroder R, Hallett IC, Cohen D, MacRae EA (2002) Overexpression of polygalacturonase in transgenic apple trees leads to a range of novel phenotypes involving changes in cell adhesion. *Plant Physiology* 129, 122
- Baur JA, Pearson KJ, Price NL, Jamieson HA, Lerin C, Kalra A, Prabhu VV, Allard JS, Lopez-Lluch G, Lewis K, Pistell PJ, Poosala S, Becker KG, Boss O, Gwinn D, Wang M, Ramaswamy S, Fishbein KW, Spencer RG, Lakatta EG, le Couteur D, Shaw RJ, Navas P, Puigserver P, Ingram DK, de Cabo R, Sinclair DA (2006) Resveratrol improves health and survival of mice on a high-calorie diet. *Nature* 444, 337-342
- Beetham PR, Kipp PB, Sawycky XL, Arntzen CJ, May GD (1999) A tool for functional plant genomics: Chimeric RNA/DNA oligonucleotides cause in vivo gene-specific mutations. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA 96, 8774
- Belfanti E, Silfverberg-Dilworth E, Tartarini S, Patocchi A, Barbieri M, Zhu J, Vinatzer BA, Gianfranceschi L, Gessler C, Sansavini S (2004) The *HcrVf2* gene from a wild apple confers scab resistance to a transgenic cultivated variety. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA* 101, 886–890
- Bellemann P, Geider KJ (1992) Localization of transposon insertions in pathogenicity mutants of *Erwinia amylovora* and their biochemical characterization. *Journal of General Microbiology* 138, 931-40
- Bernhard F, Coplin DL, Geider K (1993) A gene cluster for amylovoran synthesis in *Erwinia amylovora*: characterization and relationship to *cps* genes in *Erwinia stewartii*. *Molecular and General Genetics* **239**, 158-168
- Bertelli AA, Giovannini L, Giannessi D, Migliori M, Bernini W, Fregoni M, Bertelli A (1995) Antiplatelet activity of synthetic and natural resveratrol in red wine. *International Journal of Tissue Reactions* 17, 1-3
- Beuning L, Bowen J, Persson H, Barraclough D, Bulley S, MacRae E (2004) Characterisation of Mal d 1-related genes in *Malus*. *Plant Molecular Biology* 55, 369-388
- Blaine K, Kamaldeen S, Powell D (2002) Public perceptions of biotechnology. Journal of Food Science 67, 3200-3208
- Bogs J, Bruchmüller I, Erbar C, Geider K (1998) Colonization of host plants by the fire blight pathogen *Erwinia amylovora* marked with genes for bioluminescence and fluorescence. *Phytopathology* **88**, 416-421
- Bolar JP, Norelli JL, Wong KW, Hayes CK, Harman GE, Aldwinckle HS (2000) Expression of endochitinase from *Trichoderma harzianum* in transgenic apple increases resistance to apple scab and reduces vigour. *Phytopathology* **90**, 72-77
- Bolar JP, Norelli JL, Harman GE, Brown SK, Aldwinckle HS (2001) Synergistic activity of endochitinase and exochitinase from *Trichoderma atroviride* (*T. harzianum*) against the pathogenic fungus (*Venturia inaequalis*) in transgenic apple plants. *Transgenic Research* 10, 533-543
- Boman HG, Hultmark D (1987) Cell-free immunity in insects. Annual Review of Microbiology 41, 103-126
- Borejsza-Wysocka EE, Malnoy M, Meng X, Bonasera JM, Nissinen RM, Kim JF, Beer SV, Aldwinckle HS (2004) Silencing of apple proteins that interact with Dspe, a pathogenicity effector from *Erwinia Amylovora*, as a strategy to increase resistance to fire blight. *Acta Horticulturae* 663, 469-474
- Borejsza-Wysocka EE, Malnoy M, Aldwinckle HS, Meng X, Bonasera JM, Nissinen RM, Kim JF, Beer SV (2006) The fire blight resistance of apple clones in which Dspe-interacting proteins are silenced. *Acta Horticulturae* 704, 509-514
- Boyer J, Liu R (2004) Apple phytochemicals and their health benefits. *Nutrition Journal* **3**, 5
- Broothaerts W, Janssens GA, Proost P, Broekaert WF (1995) cDNA cloning and molecular analysis of two self-incompatibility alleles from apple. *Plant Molecular Biology* 27, 499-511
- Broothaerts W, Keulemans J, Van Nerum I (2004) Self-fertile apple resulting from S-RNase gene silencing. *Plant Cell Reports* 22, 497
- Brown SK (1992) Genetics of apple. Plant Breeding Reviews 9, 333-366
- Brown JL, Ping YC (2003) Consumer perception of risk associated with eating genetically engineered soybeans is less in the presence of a perceived consumer benefit. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association* 103, 208
- Bulley SMW, James DJ (2004) Regeneration and genetic transformation of apple (*Malus* spp.). In: Curtis I (Ed) *Transgenic Crops of the World*, Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, pp 199-216
- Bulley SM, Wilson FM, Hedden P, Phillips AL, Croker SJ, James DJ (2005) Modification of gibberellin biosynthesis in the grafted apple scion allows control of tree height independent of the rootstock. *Plant Biotechnology Journal* 3, 215

- Burgess EPJ, Malone LA, Christeller JT, Lester MT, Murray C, Philip BA, Phung MM, Tregidga EL (2002) Avidin expressed in transgenic tobacco leaves confers resistance to two noctuid pests, *Helicoverpa armigera* and *Spodoptera litura. Transgenic Research* 11, 185-198
- Burton M, Rigby D, Young T, James S (2001) Consumer attitudes to genetically modified organisms in food in the UK. European Review of Agricultural Economics 28, 479-498
- Cao H, Bowling SA, Gordon AS, Dong X (1994) Characterization of an Arabidopsis mutant that is nonresponsive to inducers of systemic acquired resistance. Plant Cell 6, 1583-1592
- Cao H, Glazebrook J, Clarke JD, Volko S, Dong X (1997) The Arabidopsis NPR1 gene that controls systemic acquired resistance encodes a novel protein containing ankyrin repeats. Cell 88, 57-63
- Cao H, Li X, Dong X (1998) Generation of broad-spectrum disease resistance by overexpression of an essential regulatory gene in systemic acquired resistance. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA* 95, 6531-6536
- Cheng L, Zhou R, Reidel EJ, Sharkey TD, Dandekar AM (2005) Antisense inhibition of sorbitol synthesis leads to up-regulation of starch synthesis without altering CO₂ assimilation in apple leaves. *Planta* 220, 767-776
- Chevreau E, Taglioni JP, Cesbron C, Dupuis F, Sourice S, Berry I, Bersegeay A, Descombin J, Loridon K (2007) Feasibility of alternative selection methods for transgenic apple and pear using the detoxification gene Vr-ERE. *Acta Horticulturae* 738, 277-281
- Clark D, Klee H, Dandekar A (2004) Despite benefits, commercialization of transgenic horticultural crops lags. *California Agriculture* 58, 89-98
- Dandekar AM, McGranahan GH, Uratsu SL, Leslie C, Vail PV, Tebbets SJ, Hoffman D, Driver J, Viss P, James DJ (1992). Engineering for apple and walnut resistance to codling moth. *Brighton Crop Protection Conference – Pests and Diseases* 2, 741-747
- Dandekar AM, Fisk HJ, McGranahan GH, Uratsu SL, Bains H, Leslie CA, Tamura M, Escobar M, Labavitch J, Grieve C, Gradziel T, Vail PV, Tebbets SJ, Sass H, Tao R, Viss W, Driver J, James DJ, Passey A, Teo G (2002) Different genes for different folks in tree crops: What works and what does not. *HortScience* 37, 281
- Dandekar AM, Teo G, Defilippi BG, Uratsu SL, Passey AJ, Kader AA, Stow JR, Colgan RJ, James DJ (2004) Effect of down-regulation of ethylene biosynthesis on fruit flavor complex in apple fruit. *Transgenic Research* 13, 373
- Davuluri GR, van Tuinen A, Fraser PD, Manfredonia A, Newman R, Burgess D, Brummell DA, King SR, Palys J, Uhlig J, Bramley PM, Pennings HMJ, Bowler C (2005) Fruit-specific RNAi-mediated suppression of *DET1* enhances carotenoid and flavonoid content in tomatoes. *Nature Biotechnology* 23, 890-895
- de Bondt A, Eggermont K, Druart P, Vil M, Goderis I, Vanderleyden J, Broekaert WF (1994) Agrobacterium-mediated transformation of apple (Malus x domestica Borkh.): an assessment of factors affecting gene transfer efficiency during early transformation steps. Plant Cell Reports 13, 587-593
- de Bondt A, Eggermont K, Penninckx I, Goderis I, Broekaert WF (1996) Agrobacterium-mediated transformation of apple (*Malus* x domestica Borkh.): An assessment of factors affecting regeneration of transgenic plants. *Plant Cell Reports* **15**, 549
- de Bondt A, Zaman S, Broekaert W, Cammue B, Keulemans J (1998). Genetic transformation of apple (*Malus pumila* Mill.) for increased fungal resistance: in vitro antifungal activity in protein extracts of transgenic apple expressing RS-AFP2 or ACE-AMP1. *Acta Horticulturae* **484**, 565-570
- Defilippi BG, Dandekar AM, Kader AA (2004) Impact of suppression of ethylene action or biosynthesis on flavor metabolites in apple (*Malus domestica* Borkh.) fruits. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* **52**, 5694
- Defilippi BG, Kader AA, Dandekar AM (2005) Apple aroma: alcohol acyltransferase, a rate limiting step for ester biosynthesis, is regulated by ethylene. *Plant Science* 168, 1199
- Degenhardt J, Poppe A, Montag J, Szankowski I (2006) The use of the phosphomannose-isomerase/mannose selection system to recover transgenic apple plants. *Plant Cell Reports* 25, 1149-1156
- Delmer D (2004) Nonprofit institutions form intellectual-property resource for agriculture. *California Agriculture* 58, 127
- **Dolgov SV, Miroschnichenko DN, Schestibratov KA** (2000) Agrobacterial transformation of apple cultivar and rootstock. *Acta Horticulturae* **538**, 619-624
- **Dolgov SV, Skryabin KG** (2004) Transgenic apple clonal rootstock resistant to BASTA herbicide. *Acta Horticulturae* **663**, 499-502
- **Dolgov SV, Schestibratov KA, Mikhailov RV** (2004) Apple transformation with the gene of supersweet protein thaumatin II. *Acta Horticulturae* **663**, 507-510
- Dong H, Felaney TP, Bauer DW, Beer SV (1999) Harpin induces disease resistance in *Arabidopsis thaliana* through the systemic acquired resistance pathway mediated by salicylic acid and the *NIM1* gene. *The Plant Journal* 20, 207-215
- Düring K (1996) Genetic engineering for resistance to bacteria in transgenic plants by introduction of foreign genes. *Molecular Breeding* 2, 297-305
- Ebner C, Hirschwehr R, Bauer L, Breiteneder H, Valenta R, Ebner H, Kraft D, Scheiner O (1995) Identification of allergens in fruits and vegetables: IgE crossreactivities with the important birch pollen allergens Bet v 1 and Bet v 2 (birch profilin). *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* **95**,

962-969

- Escobar M, Dandekar AM (2000) Development of insect resistance in fruit and nut tree crops. In: Jain SM, Minocha SC (Eds) *Molecular Biology of Woody Plants* (Vol 2), Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, The Netherlands, pp 395-417
- Espley RV, Hellens RP, Putterill J, Stevenson DE, Kutty-Amma S, Allan AC (2007) Red colouration in apple fruit is due to the activity of the MYB transcription factor, *MdMYB10. The Plant Journal* **49**, 414
- Faize M, Malnoy M, Dupuis F, Chevalier M, Parisi L, Chevreau E (2003) Chitinases of *Trichoderma atroviride* induce scab resistance and some metabolic changes in two cultivars of apple. *Phytopathology* 93, 1496-1504
- Faize M, Sourice S, Dupuis F, Parisi L, Gautier M, Chevreau E (2004) Expression of wheat puroindoline-b reduces scab susceptibility in transgenic apple (*Malus × domestica* Borkh.). *Plant Science* 167, 347-354
- Fernandez-Rivas M, Bolhaar S, Gonzalez-Mancebo E, Asero R, van Leeuwen A, Bohle B, Ma Y, Ebner C, Rigby N, Sancho AI, Miles S, Zuidmeer L, Knulst A, Breiteneder H, Mills C, Hoffmann-Sommergruber K, van Ree R (2006) Apple allergy across Europe: How allergen sensitization profiles determine the clinical expression of allergies to plant foods. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 118, 481-488
- **Flachowsky H, Birk T, Hanke V** (2004) Preliminary results to establish an alternative selection system for apple transformation. *Acta Horticulturae* **663**, 425-430
- Flachowsky H, Hanke V (2006) Gene transfer as an important approach to resistance breeding in apple. *Journal of Fruit and Ornamental Plant Research* 14 (Suppl. 1), 77-83
- Flachowsky H, Hanke MV, Elo A, Sopanen T (2007a) BpMADS4 a MADS box gene of birch induces flowers on transgenic apple plants *in vitro*. *Acta Horticulturae* **738**, 307-312
- Flachowsky H, Peil A, Sopanen T, Elo A, Hanke V (2007b) Overexpression of BpMADS4 from silver birch (*Betula pendula* Roth.) induces early-flowering in apple (*Malus domestica* Borkh.). *Plant Breeding* 126, 137-145
- Flink J, Boman A, Boman HG, Merrifield RB (1989) Design, synthesis and antibacterial activity of cecropin-like model peptides. *International Journal* of Peptide and Protein Research 33, 412-421
- **Gamble J** (1999) Attitudes towards transgenic food products- research in NZ, Asia and the UK. *The Orchardist* **June edition**, 14-15
- Gao ZS, van de Weg WE, Schaart JG, Schouten HJ, Tran DH, Kodde LP, van der Meer IM, van der Geest AHM, Kodde J, Breiteneder H, Hoffmann-Sommergruber K, Bosch D, Gilissen LJWJ (2005) Genomic cloning and linkage mapping of the *Mal d 1* (PR-10) gene family in apple (*Malus domestica*). Theoretical and Applied Genetics 111, 171-183
- Gehm BD, McAndrews JM, Chien PY, Jameson JL (1997) Resveratrol, a polyphenolic compound found in grapes and wine, is an agonist for the estrogen receptor. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA* 94, 14138-14143
- Gilissen L, Bolhaar STH, Matos CI, Rouwendal GJA, Boone MJ, Krens FA, Zuidmeer L, van Leeuwen A, Akkerdaas J, Hoffmann-Sommergruber K, Knulst AC, Bosch D, van de Weg WE, van Ree R (2005) Silencing the major apple allergen Mal d 1 by using the RNA interference approach. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* **115**, 364
- Gittins JR, Pellny TK, Hiles ER, Rosa C, Biricolti S, James DJ (2000) Transgene expression driven by heterologous ribulose-1,5-bisphosphate carboxylase/oxygenase small-subunit gene promoters in the vegetative tissues of apple (*Malus pumila* Mill.). *Planta* **210**, 232-240
- Gittins JR, Hiles ER, Pellny TK, Biricolti S, James DJ (2001) The Brassica napus extA promoter: a novel alternative promoter to CaMV 35S for directing transgene expression to young stem tissues and load bearing regions of transgenic apple trees (Malus pumila Mill.). Molecular Breeding 7, 51-62
- Graff GD, Wright BD, Bennett AB, Zilberman D (2004) Access to intellectual property is a major obstacle to developing transgenic horticultural crops. *California Agriculture* 58, 120-126
- Gray J, Picton S, Shabbeer J, Schuch W, Grierson D (1992) Molecular biology of fruit ripening and its manipulation with antisense genes. *Plant Molecular Biology* 19, 69–87
- Grunert KG, Lahteenmaki L, Nielsen NA, Poulsen JB, Ueland O, Astrom A (2001) Consumer perceptions of food products involving genetic modification - results from a qualitative study in four Nordic countries. *Food Quality* and Preference 12, 527
- Halliday KJ, Thomas B, Whitelam GC (1997) Expression of heterologous phytochromes A, B or C in transgenic tobacco plants alters vegetative development and flowering time. *The Plant Journal* 12, 1079-1090
- Hanke V, Hiller I, Klotzsche G, Richter K, Norelli JL, Aldwinckle HS (2000) Transformation in apple for increased disease resistance. Acta Horticulturae 538, 611-616
- Haruta M, Murata M, Hiraide A, Kadokura H, Yamasaki M, Sakuta M, Shimizu S, Homma S (1998) Cloning genomic DNA encoding apple polyphenol oxidase and comparison of the gene product in *Escherichia coli* and in apple. *Bioscience, Biotechnology, and Biochemistry* **62**, 358-362
- Hoffmann-Sommergruber K (2000) Plant allergens and pathogenesis-related proteins. What do they have in common? *International Archives of Allergy* and *Immunology* 122, 155-166

Holefors A, Xue Z-T, Welander M (1998) Transformation of the apple root-

stock M26 with the *rol*A gene and its influence on growth. *Plant Science* **136**, 69-78

- Holefors A, Xue Z-T, Zhu L-H, Welander M (2000) The Arabidopsis phytochrome B gene influences growth of the apple rootstock M26. Plant Cell Reports 19, 1049-1056
- Hood EE, Witcher DR, Maddock S, Meyer T, Baszczynski C, Bailey M, Flynn P, Register J, Marshall L, Bond D, Kulisek E, Kusnadi A, Evangelista R, Nikolov Z, Wooge C, Mehigh RJ, Hernan R, Kappel WK, Ritland D, Li CP, Howard JA (1997) Commercial production of avidin from transgenic maize: characterization of transformant, production, processing, extraction and purification. *Molecular Breeding* 3, 291-306
- Hough LF, Shay JR, Dayton DF (1953) Apple scab resistance from Malus floribunda Sieb. Proceedings of the American Society for Horticultural Science 62, 341-347
- Howitz KT, Bitterman KJ, Cohen HY, Lamming DW, Lavu S, Wood JG, Zipkin RE, Chung P, Kisielewski A, Zhang LL, Scherer B, Sinclair DA (2003) Small molecule activators of sirtuins extend Saccharomyces cerevisiae lifespan. Nature 425, 191-196
- Hrazdina G, Kiss E, Rosenfield CL, Norelli JL, Aldwinckle HS (2000) Down regulation of ethylene production in apples. In: Hrazdina G (Ed) Use of Agriculturally Important Genes in Biotechnology, IOS Press, Amsterdam, pp 26-32
- Hultmark D, Engstrom A, Bennich H, Kapur R, Boman H (1982) Insect immunity: isolation and structure of cecropin D and four minor antibacterial components from *Cecropia pupae*. European Journal of Biochemistry 127, 207-217
- Igarashi M, Ogasawara H, Hatsuyama Y, Saito A, Suzuki M (2002) Introduction of *rolC* into Marubakaidou [*Malus prunifolia* Borkh. var. Ringo Asami Mo 84-A] apple rootstock via *Agrobacterium tumefaciens*. *Plant Science* 163, 463
- Iida S, Terada R (2005) Modification of endogenous natural genes by gene targeting in rice and other higher plants. *Plant Molecular Biology* **59**, 205
- James DJ, Passey AJ, Barbara DJ, Bevan M (1989) Genetic-transformation of apple (*Malus-Pumila* Mill) using a disarmed Ti-Binary vector. *Plant Cell Reports* 7, 658
- Jang M, Cai L, Udeani GO, Slowing KV, Thomas CF, Beecher CWW, Fong HHS, Farnsworth NR, Kinghorn AD, Mehta RG, Moon RC, Pezzuto JM (1997) Cancer chemopreventive activity of resveratrol, a natural product derived from grapes. *Science* 275, 218-220
- Jaynes JM, Nagpala P, Destefano-Beltran L, Hong Huang J, Kim J, Denny T, Cetiner S (1993) Expression of a Cecropin B lytic peptide analog in transgenic tobacco confers enhanced resistance to bacterial wilt caused by *Pseudomonas solanacearum. Plant Science* 89, 43-53
- Jones AL, Schnabel EL (2000) The development of streptomycin-resistant strains of *Erwinia amylovora*. In: Vanneste J (Ed) *Fire Blight*, CAB International, New York, pp 235-251
- Kanamaru N, Ito Y, Komori S, Saito M, Kato H, Takahashi S, Omura M, Soejima J, Shiratake K, Yamada K, Yamaki S (2004) Transgenic apple transformed by sorbitol-6-phosphate dehydrogenase cDNA - Switch between sorbitol and sucrose supply due to its gene expression. *Plant Science* 167, 55
- Kassardjian E, Gamble J, Gunson A, Jaeger SR (2005) A new approach to elicit consumers willingness to purchase genetically modified apples. *British Food Journal* 107, 541
- Ko K, Norelli JL, Reynoird J, Borejsza-Wysocka E, Brown SK, Aldwinckle HS (2000) Effect of untranslated leader sequence of AMV RNA 4 and signal peptide of pathogenesis-related protein 1b on attacin gene expression, and resistance to fire blight in transgenic apple. *Biotechnology Letters* 22, 373-381
- Ko KS, Norelli JL, Reynoird JP, Aldwinckle HS, Brown SK (2002) T4 lysozyme and attacin genes enhance resistance of transgenic 'Galaxy' apple against *Erwinia amylovora*. Journal of the American Society for Horticultural Science **127**, 515
- Kochevenko A, Willmitzer L (2003) Chimeric RNA/DNA oligonucleotidebased site-specific modification of the tobacco acetolactate syntase gene. *Plant Physiology* 132, 174
- Kotoda N, Wada M (2005) *MdTFL1*, a *TFL1*-like gene of apple, retards the transition from the vegetative to reproductive phase in transgenic *Arabidopsis*. *Plant Science* **168**, 95
- Kotoda N, Iwanami H, Takahashi S, Abe K (2006) Antisense expression of MdTFL1, a TFL1-like gene, reduces the juvenile phase in apple. Journal of the American Society for Horticultural Science 131, 74
- Liu Q, Ingersoll J, Owens L, Salih S, Meng R, Hammerschlag F (2001) Response of transgenic Royal Gala apple (*Malus x domestica* Borkh.) shoots carrying a modified cecropin MB39 gene, to *Erwinia amylovora. Plant Cell Reports* 20, 306-312
- Lockie S, Lawrence G, Lyons K, Grice J (2005) Factors underlying support or opposition to biotechnology among Australian food consumers and implications for retailer-led food regulation. *Food Policy* **30**, 399
- Lough TJ, Lucas WJ (2006) Integrative plant biology: Role of phloem longdistance macromolecular trafficking. Annual Review of Plant Biology 57, 203
- Lusk JL, Sullivan P (2002) Consumer acceptance of genetically modified foods. *Food Technology* 56, 32
- Mabberley DJ, Jarvis CE, Juniper BE (2001) The name of the apple. *Telopea* 9, 421-430

- Malnoy M, Boresjza-Wysocka EE, Jin Q-L, He Q-L, Aldwinckle HS (2004) Over-expression of the apple gene *MpNPR1* causes increased disease resistance in *Malus x domestica. Acta Horticulturae* **663**, 463-468
- Malnoy M, Aldwinckle HS (2007) Development of fire blight resistance by recombinant DNA technology. *Plant Breeding Reviews* 29, 315-344
- Malnoy M, Borejsza-Wysocka EE, Abbott P, Lewis S, Norelli JL, Flaishman MA, Gidoni D, Aldwinckle HS (2007a) Genetic transformation of apple without use of a selectable marker. Acta Horticulturae 663, 319-322
- Malnoy M, Borejsza-Wysocka EE, Aldwinckle HS, Jin QL, He SY (2006) Transgenic apple lines over-expressing the apple gene *MpNPR1* have increased resistance to fire blight. *Acta Horticulturae* 704, 521-526
- Manna SK, Mukhopadhyay A, Aggarwal BB (2000) Resveratrol suppresses TNF-Induced activation of nuclear transcription factors NF-κB, Activator Protein-1, and apoptosis: potential role of reactive oxygen intermediates and lipid peroxidation. *Journal of Immunology* 164, 6509-6519
- Markwick NP, Christeller JT, Dochterty LC, Lilley CM (2001) Insecticidal activity of avidin and streptavidin against four species of pest *Lepidoptera*. *Entomologia Experimentalis et Applicata* **98**, 59-66
- Markwick NP, Docherty LC, Phung MM, Lester MT, Murray C, Yao J-L, Mitra DS, Cohen D, Beuning L, Kutty-Amma S, Christeller JT (2003) Transgenic tobacco and apple plants expressing biotin-binding proteins are resistant to two cosmopolitan insect pests, potato tuber moth and lightbrown apple moth, respectively. *Transgenic Research* 12, 671-681
- Masuda T, Yamashita H, Akasaka-Kennedy Y, Daimon H (2004) Plant regeneration from hairy roots of apple rootstock, *Malus prunifolia* Borkh. var. Ringo Asami, strain Nagano No. 1, transformed by *Agrobacterium rhizogenes. Journal of the Japanese Society for Horticultural Science* 73, 505-510
 Mayer AM, Harel E (1979) Polyphenol oxidases in plants. *Phytochemistry* 18, 193-215
- Miles S, Hafner C, Bolhaar S, Mancebo EG, Fernandez-Rivas M, Knulst A, Hoffmann-Sommergruber K (2006) Attitudes towards genetically modified food with a specific consumer benefit in food allergic consumers and nonfood allergic consumers. *Journal of Risk Research* 9, 801
- Morgan TD, Oppert B, Czapla TH, Kramer KJ (1993) Avidin and streptavidin as insecticidal and growth inhibiting dietary proteins. *Entomologia Experimentalis et Applicata* 69, 97-108
- Mucci A, Hough G, Ziliani C (2004) Factors that influence purchase intent and perceptions of genetically modified foods among Argentine consumers. *Food Quality and Preference* 15, 559
- Murata M, Haruta M, Murai N, Tanikawa N, Nishimura M, Homma S, Itoh A (2000) Transgenic apple (*Malus x domestica*) shoot showing low browning potential. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 48, 5243-5248
- Murata M, Nishimura M, Murai N, Haruta M, Homma S, Itoh Y (2001) A transgenic apple callus showing reduced polyphenol oxidase activity and lower browning potential. *Bioscience, Biotechnology and Biochemistry* 65, 383-388
- Murray C, Sutherland PW, Phung MM, Lester MT, Marshall RK, Christeller JT (2002) Expression of biotin-binding proteins, avidin and streptavidin, in plant tissues using plant vacuolar targeting sequences. *Transgenic Research* 11, 199-214
- Newcomb RD, Crowhurst RN, Gleave AP, Rikkerink EHA, Allan AC, Beuning LL, Bowen JH, Gera E, Jamieson KR, Janssen BJ, Laing WA, McArtney S, Nain B, Ross GS, Snowden KC, Souleyre EJF, Walton EF, Yauk Y-K (2006) Analyses of expressed sequence tags from apple. *Plant Physiology* 141, 147-166
- Nielsen KM (2003) Transgenic organisms-time for conceptual diversification? Nature Biotechnology 21, 227-228
- Noorden RO, Sinden SL, Jaynes JM, Owens LD (1992) Activity of cecropin SB37 against protoplasts from several plant species and their bacterial pathogens. *Plant Science* 82, 101-107
- Norelli JL, Jensen LA, Momol MT, Mills JZ, Ko K, Aldwinckle HS, Cummins JN (1996) Increasing the resistance of apple rootstocks to fire blight by genetic engineering: a progress report. *Acta Horticulturae* **411**, 409
- Okuzaki A, Toriyama K (2004) Chimeric RNA/DNA oligonucleotide-directed gene targeting in rice. *Plant Cell Reports* 22, 509
- Pawlicki-Jullian N, Sedira M, Welander M (2002) The use of Agrobacterium rhizogenes transformed roots to obtain transgenic shoots of the apple rootstock Jork 9. Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture 70, 163
- **Pechous S, Whitaker B** (2004) Cloning and functional expression of an (*E*,*E*)- α -farnesene synthase cDNA from peel tissue of apple fruit. *Planta* **219**, 84-94
- Perlak FJ, Fuchs RL, Dean DA, McPherson SL, Fischhoff DA (1991) Modification of the coding sequence enhances plant expression of insect control protein genes. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA* 88, 3324-3328
- Puite KJ, Schaart JG (1996) Genetic modification of the commercial apple cultivars Gala, Golden Delicious and Elstar via an Agrobacterium tumefaciens-mediated transformation method. Plant Science 119, 125-133
- Qu S-C, Huang X-D, Zhang Z, Yao Q-H, Tao J-M, Qiao Y-S, Zhang J-Y (2005) Agrobacterium-mediated transformation of Malus robusta with tomato iron transporter gene. Journal of Plant Physiology and Molecular Biology 31, 235-240 (in Chinese)

Radchuk VV, Korkhovoy VI (2005) The rolB gene promotes rooting in vitro

and increases fresh root weight *in vivo* of transformed apple scion cultivar 'Florina^{TM'}. *Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture* **81**, 203-212

- Romeiro RS, Karr AL, Goodman RN (1981) Erwinia amylovora cell wall recep-tor for Apple agglutinin. Physiological and Molecular Plant Pathology 19, 383-390
- Rommens CM, Humara JM, Ye J, Yan H, Richael C, Zhang L, Perry R, Swords K (2004) Crop improvement through modification of the plant's own genome. *Plant Physiology* 135, 421-431
- Ruhmann S, Treutter D, Fritsche S, Briviba K, Szankowski I (2006) Piceid (resveratrol glucoside) synthesis in stilbene synthase transgenic apple fruit. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* **54**, 4633
- Schaart JG, Puite KJ, Kolova L, Pogrebnyak N (1995) Some methodological aspects of apple transformation by Agrobacterium. Euphytica 85, 131
- Schaffer RJ, Friel EN, Souleyre EJF, Bolitho K, Thodey K, Ledger S, Bowen JH, Ma J-H, Nain B, Cohen D, Gleave AP, Crowhurst RN, Janssen BJ, Yao JL, Newcomb RD (2007) A genomics approach reveals that aroma production in apple is controlled by ethylene predominantly at the final step in each biosynthetic pathway. *Plant Physiology* 144, 1899-1912
- Schijlen EGWM, de Vos CHR, van Tunen AJ, Bovy AG (2004) Modification of flavonoid biosynthesis in crop plants. *Phytochemistry* 65, 2631-2648
- Schmidt H, van de Weg WE (2005) Breeding. In: Tromp J, Webster AD, Wertheim SJ (Eds) Fundamentals of Temperate Zone Tree Fruit Production, Backhuys Publishers, Leiden, The Netherlands, pp 136-155
- Sedira M, Holefors A, Welander M (2001) Protocol for transformation of the apple rootstock Jork 9 with the *rolB* gene and its influence on rooting. *Plant Cell Reports* 20, 517-524
- Sedira M, Butler E, Gallagher T, Welander M (2005) Verification of auxininduced gene expression during adventitious rooting in *rolB*-transformed and untransformed apple Jork 9. *Plant Science* 168, 1193-1198
- Seleznyova AN, Thorp TG, White M, Tustin S, Costes E (2003) Application of architectural analysis and amapmod methodology to study dwarfing phenomenon: the branch structure of 'Royal Gala' apple grafted on dwarfing and non-dwarfing rootstock/interstock combinations. *Annals of Botany* 91, 665-672
- Seong ES, Song KJ, Jegal S, Yu CY, Chung IM (2005) Silver nitrate and aminoethoxyvinylglycine affect Agrobacterium-mediated apple transformation. Plant Growth Regulation 45, 75-82
- Sharrock RA, Quail PH (1989) Novel phytochrome sequences in Arabidopsis thaliana: structure, evolution, and differential expression of a plant regulatory photoreceptor family. Genes and Development 3, 1745-1757
- Sriskandarajah S, Goodwin PB, Speirs J (1994) Genetic-transformation of the apple scion cultivar delicious via Agrobacterium-tumefaciens. Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture 36, 317
- Sriskandarajah S, Goodwin P (1998) Conditioning promotes regeneration and transformation in apple leaf explants. *Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture* 53, 1-11
- Stoop JMH, Pharr DM (1996) Mannitol metabolism in plant: a method for coping with stress. Trends in Plant Science 1, 139-144
- Subbaramaiah K, Chung WJ, Michaluart P, Telang N, Tanabe T, Inoue H, Jang M, Pezzuto JM, Dannenberg AJ (1998) resveratrol inhibits cyclooxygenase-2 transcription and activity in phorbol ester-treated human mammary epithelial cells. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 273, 21875-21882
- Sule S, Kim WS, Geider K (2002) Transformation of SR1 tobacco and JTE-H apple rootstock with the EPS depolymerase gene from *Erwinia amylovora* phage. *Acta Horticulturae* **590**, 407-409
- Szankowski I, Briviba K, Fleschhut J, Schonherr J, Jacobsen HJ, Kiesecker H (2003) Transformation of apple (*Malus domestica* Borkh.) with the stilbene synthase gene from grapevine (*Vitis vinifera* L.) and a *PGIP* gene from kiwi (*Actinidia deliciosa*). *Plant Cell Reports* 22, 141
- Teo G, Suzuki Y, Uratsu SL, Lampinen B, Ormonde N, Hu WK, de Jong TM, Dandekar AM (2006) Silencing leaf sorbitol synthesis alters long-distance partitioning and apple fruit quality. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA* 103, 18842-18847
- Townsend E, Campbell S (2004) Psychological determinants of willingness to taste and purchase genetically modified food. *Risk Analysis* 24, 1385-1393
- Valenzano DR, Terzibasi E, Genade T, Cattaneo A, Domenici L, Cellerino A (2006) Resveratrol prolongs lifespan and retards the onset of age-related markers in a short-lived vertebrate. *Current Biology* 16, 296-300
- Vanek-Krebitz M, Hoffmann-Sommergruber K, Machado MLD, Susani M, Ebner C, Kraft D, Scheiner O, Breiteneder H (1995) Cloning and sequencing of Mal d 1, the major allergen from apple (*Malus domestica*), and its immunological relationship to Bet v 1, the major birch pollen allergen. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* 214, 538-551
- Viss WJ, Pitrak J, Humann J, Cook M, Driver J, Ream W (2003) Crowngall-resistant transgenic apple trees that silence Agrobacterium tumefaciens oncogenes. Molecular Breeding 12, 283
- Vinatzer BA, Patocchi A, Gianfranceschi L, Tartarini S, Zhang HB, Gessler C, Sansavini S (2001) Apple contains receptor-like genes homologous to the Cladosporium fulvum resistance gene family of tomato with a cluster of genes cosegregating with Vf apple scab resistance. Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions 14, 508-514
- Wagner D, Tepperman JM, Quail PH (1991) Overexpression of phytochrome b induces a short hypocotyl phenotype in transgenic Arabidopsis. Plant Cell

3, 1275-1288

Webb KL, Burley JWA (1962) Sorbitol translocation in apple. Science 137, 766

- Wei ZM, Laby RJ, Zumoff CH, Bauer DW, He SY, Collmer A, Beer SV (1992) Harpin, elicitor of the hypersensitive response produced by the plant pathogen *Erwinia amylovora*. *Science* 257, 85-88
- Welander M, Pawlicki N, Holefors A, Wilson F (1998) Genetic transformation of the apple rootstock M26 with the *rol*B gene and its influence on rooting. *Journal of Plant Physiology* 153, 371-380
- Wilson FM, James DJ (1998) Regeneration and transformation of apple cultivar Falstaff. In: Davey MR, Alderson PG, Lowe KC, Power JB (Eds) *Tree Biotechnology Towards the Millenium*, Nottingham University Press, Nottingham, UK, pp 95-100
- Wilson FM, James DJ (2003) Regeneration and transformation of the premier UK apple (Malus X pumila Mill.) cultivar Queen Cox. Journal of Horticultural Science and Biotechnology 78, 656
- Wisniewski ME, Bassett CL, Norelli JL, Artlip TS, Renaut J (2007) Using biotechnology to improve resistance to environmental stress in fruit crops: The importance of understanding physiology. *Acta Horticulturae* **738**, 145-156
- Wong KW, Harman GE, Norelli JL, Gustafson HL, Aldwinckle HS (1998) Chitinase-transgenic lines of 'Royal Gala' apple showing enhanced resistance to apple scab. Acta Horticulturae 484, 595-600
- Wood JG, Rogina B, Lavu S, Howitz K, Helfand SL, Tatar M, Sinclair D (2004) Sirtuin activators mimic caloric restriction and delay ageing in metazoans. *Nature* 430, 686-689
- Xu ML, Korban SS (2002) A cluster of four receptor-like genes resides in the Vf locus that confers resistance to apple scab disease. Genetics 162, 1995-2006

- Yang SF, Hoffman NE (1984) Ethylene biosynthesis and its regulation in higher plant. *Annual Review of Plant Physiology* 35, 126-138
- Yao JL, Cohen D, Atkinson R, Richardson K, Morris B (1995) Regeneration of transgenic plants from the commercial apple cultivar Royal-Gala. *Plant Cell Reports* 14, 407
- Zhou R, Cheng L, Dandekar AM (2006) Down-regulation of sorbitol dehydrogenase and up-regulation of sucrose synthase in shoot tips of the transgenic apple trees with decreased sorbitol synthesis. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 57, 3647-3657
- Zhu T, Peterson DJ, Tagliani L, St Clair G, Baszczynski CL, Bowen B (1999) Targeted manipulation of maize genes in vivo using chimeric RNA/ DNA oligonucleotides. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA 96, 8768
- Zhu LH, Welander M (2000) Growth characteristics of the untransformed and transformed apple rootstock M26 with *rolA* and *rolB* genes under steadystate nutrient supply conditions. *Acta Horticulturae* 521, 139-146
- Zhu T, Mettenburg K, Peterson DJ, Tagliani L, Baszczynski CL (2000) Engineering herbicide-resistant maize using chimeric RNA/DNA oligonucleotides. *Nature Biotechnology* 18, 555
- Zhu LH, Ahlman A, Li XY, Welander M (2001a) Integration of the *rol*A gene into the genome of the vigorous apple rootstock A2 reduced plant height and shortened internodes. *Journal of Horticultural Science and Biotechnology* 76, 758-763
- Zhu LH, Holefors A, Ahlman A, Xue ZT, Welander M (2001b) Transformation of the apple rootstock M.9/29 with the *rol*B gene and its influence on rooting and growth. *Plant Science* 160, 433-439
- Zhu LH, Li XY, Ahlman A, Xue ZT, Welander M (2004) The use of mannose as a selection agent in transformation of the apple rootstock M26 via Agrobacterium tumefaciens. Acta Horticulturae 663, 503-506